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WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463
July 9, 2001

ENORADN SENSITIVE

TO: THE COMMISSION
THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON
STAFF DIRECTOR
FROM: - ««JOHN D. GIBSON '
ASSISTANT ST. DIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION
SUBJECT: ADMINISTRATIVE FINES FINAL DETERMINATION

RECOMMENDATION FOR THE 2000 YEAR END REPORT

Attached are two lists of political committees and their treasurers against which the
Commission has found reason to believe (RTB) and assessed proposed civil money
penalties calculated at the RTB stage for failure to file or failure to timely file the 2000
Year End Report. The first list represents committees that have paid the civil money
penalty and the second list represents those that have not paid. The committees that have
not paid have been given at least forty (40) days from the date of the RTB notification to

remit payment.

In accordance with 11 CFR. 111.34 and 11 CF.R. 111.40, the Commis§ion shall
send a final determination notice to those respondents that have either paid or not paid the *

civil money penalty.

Five committees have filed their reports-after the RTB finding. The actual level of -
activity disclosed on the report results in a civil money penalty which is lower than that
assessed at the RTB stage. Three of the committees, Troy Liggett for Congress (AF#
412), People for Royal Hart (AF #431) and Moritz for Congress (AF# 434) disclosed zero
receipts and disbursements, thus bringing their final civil money penalty to zero as well.
The remaining two commitiees are:

¢ Garza for Congress Committee
AF #435



e Independent Action, Inc.
AF #460

None of the committees listed above have paid the civil money penalty. The actual
level of activity and receipt date of the reports, as well as the revised civil money
penalties, are reflected on the attached “not paid” circulation report.

e} RAD Recommendation

(1) Make final determinations that the political committees and their treasurers on the
i attached lists -violated 2~ U.8.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalties so
i indicated.

= (2) Send the appropriate letters.



COMMITTEES THAT HAVE PAID
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COMMITTEES THAT HAVE NOT PAID
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION SENSHWE

Washington, DC 20483

DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Tuesday, July 40,2001 11:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Friday, July 13, 2001 _4:00
COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SANDSTROM, SMITH, THOMAS, WCOLD

SUBJECT: Administrative Fines Final Determination
Recommendation For The:2000 Year End

Report
() | approve the recommendation(s)
() | object to the recommendation(s)
() i approve the recormmendations except those following

to which | object (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following N
in which 1 am recused (please insert AF#)

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no later
than date and time shown above.

DATE: SIGNATURE:

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION




SEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Final Determination Recommendation
2000 Year End Report for the
Administrative Fines Program:

BLAKE FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE, and
JAMES EDWARD SOLBAKKEN as treasurer;
TICO PEREZ FOR CONGRESS CAMPAIGN, and
KARL S PALVISAK as treasurer;

MICHAEL COLES FOR US SENATE INC, ‘and
DAVID L BALSER.as treagurer;

YOB 2000 (¥2K), and KEITH CHARTERS as
treasurer;

EARTNETT FOR CONGRESS, and MARGARET F
ROMERO aBs treasurer;

AZINGER FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE, and
DAVID DILLEY as treasurer;

FRIENDS FOR JACK METCALF, and FRANK M
MCCORD ag treasurer;

MARTA MACIAS BROWN FOR CONGRESS, and M
S (STAN) TOMLINSCON as treasurer;

KING FOR CONGRESS CAMPAIGN, and JAMES
RING as treasurer;

WILLIE LOGAN FOR UNITED STATES SENATE,
and RONALD THOMPKINS as treasurer;
COMMITTEE TO ELECT JOYCE MARTIE GRIGGS,
and AMIR TOURE as8 treasurer;

RUSS FRANCIS FOR CONGRESS, and RUSS
FRANCIS as treasurer;

CARROLL 2000, and BRIAN K YOMONO as
treasurer;

TROY LIGGETT FOR CONGRESS, and TROY D
FARMER as treasurer) -

KELLEY FOR U 8 SENATE COMMITTEE, and
JOHN R WHEATON as treasurer;

MCNARY FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE, and
ANDREW N BAUR as treasurer;

SAND FOR SENATE 2000, and CHAD R
MCCABE as treasurex;

DINIZIO 2000, and ANTOINEITE DINIZIO
as treasurer;

}
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)
}
)
)
)
)
)
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)
)
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Federal Election Commission
Certification for Administrative Fines

July 13, 2002

PEOPLE FOR ROYAL HART, and BEYANNE
HAYDEN-HART ag treasurer;

PAUL WILLIAMS FOR CONGRESS, and MIKE
MUNDY as treasurer;

MORITZ FOR CONGRESS, and DR PHILLIP J
CHURCH MD as treasurer;

GARZA FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE, and
RICARDO E CALDERON a8 treasurer;

JOE VU FOR CONGRESS CAMPAIGN
COMMITTEE, and MARY WILKINSON as
treasurer;

ELI LILLY AND COMPANY POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and R M DAVIS as treasurer;
INDEPENDENT ACTION INC, and RALPH
SANTORA ap treasurer;

INTERNATIONAL COUNCIL OF CRUISE LINES
POLITICAL ACTION COMM (ICCL-PAC), and
J MICHAEL CRYE as treasurer;

LEHTGH VALLEY DEMOCRATIC COMMITTEE,
and EMRICH STELLAR as treasursr;
LIBERTARIAN PARTY OF ILLINOIS, and
STEVEN I GIVOT as treasurexr;
REPUBLICAN CENTRAL COMMITTEE OF SAN
LUIS OBISPO COUNTY, and A C WOODRUFF
as treasurer;
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Federal Election Cozmission Page 3
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CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary for the Federal
Election Commission, do hereby certify that on

July 13, 2001, the Commission took the following

= kgAY

actions on the Final Determination Recommendation

For The 2000 Year End Report in the Adminigtrative
Fines Program, ag recommended in the Reports Analysis
pivision's Memecrandum dated July 9, 2001, on the

following committees:

AF# 378: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that BLRKE FOR CONGRESS

COMMITTEE, and JAMES EDWARD SOLBAXKEN as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money
pernalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate

letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstyxom,
smith, Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the .

decision.

AFH# 378: Decided by a vote of 6§-0 to: {1) make a
final determination that TICO PEREZ FOR ~CONGRESS- - )
" CAMPAIGN, and KARL § PALVISAX as treasurer, vivlated
2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty

so indicated; {2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissionere Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

decision.

AF# 381: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
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final determination that MICHAEL COLES FOR US SENATE
INC, and DAVID L BALSER as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty Bo
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
*homas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decisgion.

AF# 385: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
= final det&rmination that YOB 2000 (¥2K), and KEITH
U CHARTERS as treasurer, viclated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
i assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
i affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 3B6: Decided by a vote of €-0 to: (1} make &
fipal determination that HARTNEIT FOR CONGRESS, and
MARGARET F ROMERO as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434 {a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commiseioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF¥ 391: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that AZINGER FCR CONGRESS
COMMITTEE, and DAVID DILLEY as treasurer, violated 2
U.5.C. 434(a) and amsess the civil money penalty se¢
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AFH 397: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that FRIENDS FOR JACK METCALF,
and FRANK M MCCORD as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty a0
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commisaioners Mason, McDonald, Sandatrom, smith,
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Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decisicn.

AF# 403: Dacided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) meke &
£inal determination that MARTA MACIAS BROWN FOR
CONGRESS, and M 8 (8TAN) TOMLINSON as treasurer,
vielated 2 U.8.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money
penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Cormissioners Mason, McDonald, 8Sandstrom,
smith, Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

deciglon.

AF# 405: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
£final determination that KING FOR CONGRESS CAMPAIGN,
and JAMES KING as treasurer, violated 2 U.8.C.
434(a) and assess the civil money renalty so
indicated; {(2) send the appropriate latter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold votad affirmatively for the

decigion.

Ar# 407: pecided by a vote of 6~0 to: (1) make a
final determination that WILLIE LOGAN FOR UNITED
STATES SENATE, and RONALD THOMPKINS as treasurar,
violated 2 U.S5.C. 434(a) and aspess the civil money
penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, MeDonald, Sandsgtrom,
gmith, Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

declision,

AF# 408: pecided by a vote of 6-0 to: {1) make a
final determination that COMMITTEE TO ELECT JOYCE "~
MARIE GRIGGS, and AMIR TOURE a=s traasurey, violated
2 U.8.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty
g0 indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, gandstrom, Smith,
Phomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

decision.

AF4# 409: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a




Federal Election Cormiseion fage 6
Certification for Administrative Fines
July 13, 2001

final determination that RUSS FRANCIS FOR CONGRESS,
snd RUSS FRANCIS as treasurer, violated 2 U.8.C.
434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2} send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 410: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final detéirminatlon that CARROLL 2000, and BRIAN K
YOMONO as treasurar, violated 2 U.8.C. 434{(a) and
agsess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
pend the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Bandstrom, Smith, Thomam, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AFH# 412: Decided by a vote of €-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that TROY LIGGETT FOR CONGRESS,
end TROY D FARMER as treasurer, violated 2 U.8.C,
434 (a) and assese the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decislon.

AF# 417: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that KELLEY FOR U 8 BENATE
COMMITTEE, and JOHN R WHEATON as treasurer, violated
2 U.B.C. 434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty
an indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commiseioners Mapon, McDonald, Sandatrom, 8mith,
Thomae, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 418; Decided by a vote of 6-0 toa: (1) make a
final determipatian that MCNARY FOR CONGRESS
COMMIYTEE, and ANDREW N BAUR ar treasurer, violated
2 1.9.¢. 434 ({a) and assess the civil mopey penalty
go indicated; (2] send the approprlate letter.
Commiscioners Mapon, Wchonald, Sandstrom, Smith,

~
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comtidasioners Madol, Mebodald, Sandebrom, Smith,
thotius, and Wold voted affismatively for the
decision.

AFE 431 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1} make a
Final determination that PREOPLE FOR ROYAL HART, and
BEYANNE HAYDEN-HART as treaputrer, violated 2 ©U.8.C
434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mapon, McDenald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomasn, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decisicn.

AFH 433: Decided by a vote of 6§-0 to: (1} make a
final determination that PAUL WILLIAMS FOR CONGRESS,
and MIKE MUNDY as treasurer, violated 2 U.8.C..
434{a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Themas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decigion.

AF# 434: becided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that MORITZ FOR CONGRESS, and DR
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PHILLIP J CHURCH MD as treasurer, violated 2 v.8.C.
434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 435: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: {1} make a
final determination that GARZA FOR CONGRESS
COMMITTEE> and RICARDC E CALDERON as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money
penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Cowmissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

decision.

AF# 436: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that JOE VU FOR CONGRESS
CAMPATGN COMMITTEE, and MARY WILKINSON as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S5.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money
penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate
jetter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

decision.

AFP# 459: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determinmation that ELI LILLY AND COMPANY
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and R M DAVIE as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assest the
civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and. Wold voted .

"affirmatively for the decision.

AF§# 460: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that INDEPENDENT ACTION INC, and
RALPH SANTORA as treasurer, violated 2 U.S5.C. 434 (a)
and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissionexrs Mason,
McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
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affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 461: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that INTERNATIONAL COUNCIL OF
CRUISE LINES POLITICAL ACTION COMM (ICCL-PAC), and J
MICHAEL CRYE as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmativaly- for the deecision.

AF# 464: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that LEHIGH VALLEY DEMOCRATIC
COMMITTEE, and EMRICH STELLAR as treasurer, violated
2 U.S.C. 434(s) and assess the civil money penalty
so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decisioeon.

AFf# 465: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that LIBERTARIAN PARTY OF
ILLINOIS, and STEVEN I GIVOT as treasurer, violated
2 U.5.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty
so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mascn, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

decigion.

AF# 469: Pecided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that REPUBLICAN CENTRAL
COMMITTEE OF SAN LDIS OBISPO. CODNTY,. and A C . .
WOODRUFF as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissiocners Mason,
McDonald, Sandatrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.
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Attest:

Page 10

poin g0t Dl D oo

Mary W Dove

Received in the Secretariat: Tues., July 10,
Circulated to the Ccommission: Tues., July 10,

Deadline for vote: Fri., July 13,

Secret ry of the Commission

2001 95:11 a.m.
2001 11:00 a.m.

2001 4:00 p.m.
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Final Determination Recommendation
2000 Year End Report for the
Adminietrative Fines Program:
ROBINSON2000 LLC D/B/A ROBINSON
FEDERAL COMMITTEE, and JACK E ROBINSON
III as treasurer;

NEWINSKI FOR CONGRESS, and RICHARD C
RIENER as treasurer; ’

SAM BREGMAN FOR:CONGRESS, and BRUCE F
MALOTT as treasurer;

SONNY ZAYAS FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE,
and MELVIN MCCLAIN as treasurel;
REYNOLDS FOR CONGRESS, and ROGER D.
TUPTON as treasurer;

BRAD CARSON FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE,
and JULIE K CARSON as treasurer;

STARR FOR CONGRESS, and NANCY E STOUT
as treasurer;

DEFAZIQ FOR CONGRESS, and ROBERT
ACKERMAN as treasurex;

SCHWARTZ 2000 COMMITTEE, and WILLIAM H
EWING ESQUIRE asg treasurer;

KATHLEEN FOR CONGRESS, and TODD NILSEN
ne treapurer;

FRIENDS OF JOHN CONYERS, and JAMES W
WISE as treasurer;

JANE FREDERICK FOR CONGRESS, and M
MALISSA BURNETTE as treasurer;
AMERICAN NEUROLOGICAL SURGERY
onr.reToAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and GARY C
DPERNIS MD) as treagurery ...

COLUMBIA ENERGY GROUP EMPLOYEES
POLITICAL ACTION FUND, and VINCERT E
DEVITO JR ag treasurer:;

PH&S FEDERAL PAC, and JOHN E POOLER JR
as treasurer;

PUBLIC SERVICE ELECTRIC AND GAS
COMPANY POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
(PEGPAC) . and MARK G KAHRER as

)
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)
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384

387

388

389

350

392

393

394

395
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416

432

440
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446
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treasurer;

UTILITY WORKERS UNION OF AMERICA
POLITICAL CONTRIBUTIONS COMMITTEE, and
GARY RUFFNER as treasurer;}

RIVERSIDE COUNTY REPUBLICAN CENTRAL
COMMITTEE, and CHRIS ROSEBROUGHE as
treasurer;

YUUBA COUNTY REPUBLICAN CENTRAL
COMMITTEE, and HARCIA E. MEYERS as
treasurer; ~ G S

CALIFORNIA COOPERAIIVE CREAMERY
FEDERAL PAC OF DAIRY FARMERS oF
AMERICA INC, and JOE DUARTE as -
treasurer;

PECO ENERGY COMPANY POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE (FKA: PHILRDELPHIA ELECTRIC
COMPANY PAC), and GARY R BUCHMANN as

treasurer;

VVUVVVVVVVVVU‘JUN’VV
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AFr# 4459

AF# 454

AF# 456 -

AF# 457

AF# 462
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CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary for the Federal
Plection Commission, do hereby certify that on

July 13, 2001, the Commissien took the following

. i -

actions on the Pinal Determination Recommendation
For The 2000 Year End Report in the Administrative
Fines Program, as recommended in the Reports Analysis

Divieion's Memorandum dated July 9, 2001, om the

following committees:

AFH 3B4: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make &
final determination that ROBINSON2000 LLC D/B/A
ROBINSON FEDERAL COMMITTEE, and JACK E ROBINSON III

as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess

the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted .
affirmatively for the decigion.

Ar# 387: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final détermination that -NEWINSKI ‘FOR: CONGRESS, and ..
RICHARD € RIENER as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty 8o
jndicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

decision.

AF# 388: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
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final determination that SAM BREGMAN FOR CONGRESS,
and BRUCE F MALOTT as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so
= indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
i Cormissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 389: Decided by a voté of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that SONNY ZRYAS FOR CONGRESS
COMMITTEE, and MELVIN MCCLAIN as treasurer, viclated
2 U.8.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty
7 so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.

£ Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,

' Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 390: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that REYNOLDS FOR CONGRESS, and
ROGER D. UPTON as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissionexrs Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

decision.

AF# 3582: Decided by a vote of €6-0 to: {1) make a
final determination that BRAD CARSON FOR CONGRESS
COMMITTEE, and JULIE K CARSON as treasurer, viclated
2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty
g0 indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Conmigesioners Masoni McDonald; Sandstram, Smith,
‘Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decisgion.

AFH# 393: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that STARR FOR CONGRESS, and
NANCY E STOUT as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
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Mcbhonald, Sandstrem, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 394: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that DEFAZIO FOR CONGRESS, and
ROBERT ACKERMAN as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letterx.
Commiesioners Mason, McDonaid, gandstrom, Smitk,
Thomas, an® Wold voted affirmatively for the

decipion.

AF# 395: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: {1) make a
final determination that SCHWARTZ 2000 COMMITTEE,
and WILLIAM H EWING ESQUIRE as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

deciaion.

AF# 396: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that RATHLEEN FOR CONGRESS, and
TODD NILSEN as treasurer; violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and assess the civil money penalty 8o indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason.
McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 416: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: {1) make a
final determination that FRIENDS OF JOHN CONYERS,
and JAMES W WISE”as"treasurer;~viclate&:ZHU,S.c..
434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty soO
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,

Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

decision.

AF# 432: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: {1) make a
final determination that JANE FREDERICK FOR
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CONGRESS, and M MALISSA BURNETTE as treasurer,
violated 2 U.5.C. 434(a) nnd assess the civil money
penalty so indicated; (2) gend the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mascn, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, Thomas, and Woldé voted affirmatively for the

decision.

AF$# 440: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that AMERICAN NEUROLOGICAL
SURGERY - FOLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and GARY C
DENNIS MD as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a) and
asgess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF§# 443: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that COLUMBIA ENERGY GROUP
EMPLOYEES POLITICAL ACTION FUND, and VINCENT H
DEVITO JR as treasurer, vioclated 2 U.S.C. 434{(a) and
assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commigsioners Mason,
McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 446: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
£inal determination that PH&S FEDERAL PAC, and JOHN
£ POOLER JR as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a)
and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decisgion.... .

AF# 447: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that PUBLIC SERVICE ELECTRIC AND
GAS COMPANY POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (PEGPAC), and
MARK G KAHRER as treasurer, violated 2 U.s.C. 434 (=)
and assess the civil money penalty 8o indicated; (2}
gend the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
MeDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomasa, and Wold voted
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affirmatively for the decision.

APH# 449: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that UTILITY WORKERS TUNION OF
AMERTCA POLITICAL CONTRIBUTIONS COMMITTEE, and GARY
RUFFNER as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a) and
asgess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2}
gend the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDenald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively- for the decision.

AF# 454: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
£inal determination that RIVERSIDE COUNTY REPUBLICAN
CENTRAL COMMITTEE, and CHRIS ROSERROUGH as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a) and assess the
civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Ccmmissioners Mason, McDonald,
gandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 456: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: {1) make a
final determination that YUBA COUNTY REPUBLICAN
CENTRAL COMMITTEE, and MARCIA E. MEYERS asB
tyeagurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the
civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 457: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
rinal determination that CALIFORNIA COOPERATIVE
CREAMERY FEDERhL‘PACMOF“DAIRY'FARMER310F~AMERICA¢.u
INC, and JOE DUARTE as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
jndicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AFH 462: Decided by a vote of €-0 to: (1) make a
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EL, ' 007
V/’__D te . Mary W;ZEOVE

final determination that PECO ENERGY COMPANY
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (FKA: PHILADELPHIA
ELECTRIC COMPANY PAC)}, and GARY R BUCHMANN as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the
civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

R

Attest:

 ne Y O

Secret of the Commission

Received in the Secretariat: Tues., July 10, 2001 9:11 a.m.
Circulated to the Commission: Tues., July 10, 2001 11:00 p.m.
Deadline for vote: Fri., July 13, 2001 4:00 p.m.
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